IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

Case No. 73933

Electronically Filed
Feb. 08 2018 02:18 p.m.
SIERRA PACIFIC INDUSTRIES, a California Corperation
Clerk of Supreme Court
Appellant,

v.

JASON KING, P.E., in his capacity as Nevada State Engineer; THE DIVISION OF WATER RESOURCES, DEPARTMENT OF CONSERVATION, an agency of the State of Nevada; and INTERMOUNTAIN WATER SUPPLY, LTD., a Nevada Limited Liability Company,

Respondents

Appeal From Order Denying Petition for Judicial Review District Court Case No.: CV16-01378
Second Judicial District Court of Nevada

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

McDONALD CARANO LLP
Debbie Leonard (#8260)
100 West Liberty Street, 10th Floor
Reno, NV 89501

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This is an appeal from the district court's denial of Appellant/Petitioner Sierra Pacific Industries' ("SPI") petition for judicial review of a decision by the Nevada State Engineer that granted an eleventh extension of time to Respondent Intermountain Water Supply ("Intermountain") to perfect certain water rights. The district court entered its order denying petition for judicial review on August 21, 2017. XI(2751-2759). Notice of entry of that order was filed on August 22, 2017. XI(2760). SPI filed its notice of appeal on September 6, 2017. XI(2765). Under NRAP 4(a)(1), SPI's appeal is timely. Because the order denying the petition for judicial review was a final judgment, appellate jurisdiction exists under NRAP 3A(b)(1) and NRS 533.450(9).

ROUTING STATEMENT

This is an administrative agency case involving water and therefore should be retained by the Supreme Court. NRAP 17(a)(8).

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

1. The law of beneficial use, the anti-speculation doctrine and NRS 533.380 require that a water appropriator exercise reasonable diligence to put the appropriated water to beneficial use in the location authorized by its permits or have a contractual or agency relationship with someone who can. Did the State Engineer err, as a matter of law, where Intermountain admits – and the State

Engineer acknowledged – that Intermountain does not plan to use the permitted water, or have the financial means to do so, but rather is marketing the water for sale outside the place of use authorized by the permits?

- 2. The State Engineer relied exclusively on unreliable, inconsistent and unsupported statements from Intermountain's principal, Robert Marshall, regarding alleged agreements that Intermountain did not provide to the State Engineer. Absent substantial and competent "proof and evidence" to meet the requirements of NRS 533.380, should the State Engineer have denied Intermountain's extension requests and canceled the permits?
- 3. In 2015, the State Engineer informed Intermountain that "the inability to secure a buyer in future requests for extensions of time will not be considered good cause for extensions of time." Did the State Engineer act arbitrarily and capriciously when, in 2016, he again granted extensions notwithstanding that Intermountain still had no buyer for the project?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Starting in 1999, Respondent Intermountain Water Supply ("Intermountain") filed applications to appropriate groundwater in the Dry Valley Hydrographic Basin for an interbasin transfer to certain parcels in Lemmon Valley for municipal

purposes.¹ Starting in 2002, the State Engineer granted Intermountain permits 64977, 64978, 66400, 72700, 73428, 73429, 73430 and 74327 for nearly all of the available groundwater in the Dry Valley Basin ("the Permits").² In the 16 years since the State Engineer started issuing the Permits, Intermountain has yet to commence construction of the pipeline and necessary infrastructure to put the permitted water to use. III(654-656). Since 2005, the State Engineer has given Intermountain a series of one-year extensions to do so.³

Intermountain's unexercised Permits are obstructing Appellant SPI's ability to expand its agricultural operations in Dry Valley. I(47-54). For that reason, and because Intermountian has no ability to use the permitted water, SPI started to file objections to any further extensions of time for Intermountain to file proofs of completion and beneficial use. I(47-54). Over SPI's objection, on June 1, 2016, the State Engineer granted Intermountain yet another extension for each of its Permits. III(678-684).

SPI timely filed a petition for judicial review of the June 1, 2016 Decision. I(1-28). The district court denied the petition. XI(2751-2759). SPI now appeals.

¹ I(44); IV(832-833, 951-953); V(1150-1152, 1280-81); VII(1604-1606, 1714-1717); VIII(1951-1953); IX(2119-2121, 2227-2229); X(2359-2360)

² IV(914-916); V(1060-1062, 1181-1184); VII(1781-1782); IX(2066-2069, 2099-2185, 2283-2286); X(2386-2388)

³ See, e.g., III(667); IV(946, 952, 979, 984, 989, 992, 997, 1002, 1008, 1021, 1030)

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. Dry Valley Hydrographic Basin

Dry Valley is located in western Washoe County along the border of Lassen County, California.⁴ The State Engineer has estimated the perennial yield from Dry Valley – the amount of groundwater that may be withdrawn from the basin without causing overdraft – as approximately 3,000 acre feet. IX(2089). The State Engineer has granted 3,021.60 acre feet of permits in Dry Valley, of which 2,996 acre feet are Intermountain's unexercised Permits. IX(2089).

B. The Permits Issued to Intermountain

Intermountain's permit applications proposed an interbasin transfer to export water from Dry Valley to supply what Intermountain claimed was anticipated municipal water demands in Lemmon Valley. IV(833, 1033); V(1151); IX(2170-71). The permits issued to Intermountain described the authorized place of use as certain sections of land located in the Lemmon Valley Hydrographic Basin.⁵ The permits do not authorize the water to be used anywhere other than the areas of Lemmon Valley described in Intermountain's applications. *See id*.

Since the State Engineer first started issuing the Permits in 2002, Intermountain has not commenced construction of the pipeline or necessary

⁴ See Nevada Division of Water Resources Basin Boundary Map, http://water.nv.gov/mapping/maps/designated basinmap.pdf

⁵ IV(914); V(1060, 1185); IX(2069, 2174, 2185, 2286); X(2386).

infrastructure to put the water to beneficial use. III(647-659). Intermountain also has not submitted any evidence that it has the ability to finance or obtain financing for the necessary capital expenditures to construct the well field, pipeline and treatment system. III(647-659). Likewise, Intermountain has not secured a contractual or agency relationship with a municipal water purveyor that is authorized to serve the permitted place of use. III(647-659).

The location of Intermountain's proposed pipeline is alongside an existing pipeline, known as the North Valleys Importation Project ("NVIP"), which was constructed in 2007 to supply municipal water demands in the North Valleys, including Lemmon Valley. IV(1015-1016). The NVIP sat idle for nearly a decade without municipal demand for its use but is now part of the Truckee Meadows Water Authority's ("TMWA") distribution system. IV(1015). The NVIP is capable of serving anticipated municipal demands in Lemmon Valley for the foreseeable future, and TMWA would only use water from another water supply project such as Intermountain's if the owner has "the ability to assume the risk and invest the time and effort for permitting, design, construction, and financing," which Intermountain does not have. III(613).

///

///

C. Intermountain's Marketing Plan for the Permits

Rather than itself develop the water under the Permits, Intermountain is actively seeking to market its "water project." On a website called nevadawaterproject.com, Intermountain was offering to sell its water and other permits for \$12,000,000. I(224). According to the website, "This 22 mile long, federally approved, proposed pipeline along with 3068.1 acre feet of water is for sale in northern Nevada." I(224). In other words, Intermountain has no intention to finance infrastructure construction, bear the cost of operating and maintaining the municipal water system, or put the water to beneficial use.

D. Appellant/Petitioner Sierra Pacific Industries' Current Ability to Put Dry Valley Groundwater to Beneficial Use

1. Wilburn Ranch Agricultural Operations

SPI has significant ranching and farming operations, running upwards of 2,000 head of cattle across hundreds of parcels and leasing grazing rights for over 5,000 head of cattle on tens of thousands of acres. I(206-207). SPI's landholdings include lands located in Dry Valley and Long Valley in Lassen County, California and Washoe County, Nevada, collectively referred to as the Wilburn Ranch. I(207). SPI acquired the Wilburn Ranch in 2014 for agricultural production. I(208).

⁶ I(224-232); III(665); IV(1029); V(1124, 1128, 1136, 1140); VIII(1826); IX(2116).

⁷ I(224-232); III(665); IV(1029); V(1124, 1128, 1136, 1140); VIII(1826); IX(2116).

Currently, 100 to 150 head of cattle graze on the Nevada parcels and 50 to 100 head of cattle graze on the California parcels of Wilburn Ranch. I(208).

SPI has appropriated water in both Nevada and California for its Wilburn Ranch operations. I(208). In Nevada, water for livestock and some meadow irrigation is supplied by natural springs, which SPI has the right to use under its permits 70423 and 70424. I(208). So far, SPI has not pumped subsurface groundwater in Nevada other than well testing nor transferred water across the California/Nevada boundary because, as explained below, it has not been issued permits from the Nevada State Engineer to do so. I(208). In California, SPI pumps water from four different artesian springs and three different wells and uses sprinklers and flood irrigation for crops. I(208).

2. SPI's Applications 84688 and 84689

On January 9, 2015, SPI submitted Applications 84688 and 84689 to the State Engineer for its proposed expansion of irrigated lands at Wilburn Ranch. I(189-191, 197-199). SPI has an immediate need for the water it seeks and can immediately put the water to beneficial use in its existing and proposed expanded agricultural operations. I(209).

Two protests to Applications 84688 and 84689 were filed: one by Buckhorn Land and Livestock, LLC and one by Washoe County, as holders of water rights in Dry Valley. I(192-196, 200-204). Both protestants argued that SPI's Applications

should be denied because Intermountain's Permits encompass the entire perennial yield of Dry Valley, and according to the protestants, no water remains available to appropriate. I(192-196, 200-204). Applications 84688 and 84689 are currently pending with the State Engineer and were pending at the time that the State Engineer issued the June 1, 2016 Decision. I(189-191, 197-199).

E. The State Engineer's June 4, 2015 Decision to Grant Additional Extensions of Time to Intermountain, Followed By SPI's 2015 Petition for Judicial Review

In late 2014 and early 2015, as it had done throughout the previous decade, Intermountain sought extensions of time to file proofs of completion of the diversion works and proofs of beneficial use from the State Engineer.⁸ Because Intermountain's unexercised Permits interfere with the SPI's ability to appropriate water on the Nevada side of Dry Valley basin, and Intermountain was not exercising reasonable diligence to perfect its applications, SPI filed an objection to Intermountain's 2015 extension requests. VIII(1840-1842).

On June 4, 2015, over SPI's objection, the State Engineer granted Intermountain yet another one-year extension of time. ("June 4, 2015 Decision," IV(1026-1029). In the June 4, 2015 Decision, the State Engineer made the express finding that "the applications for extensions of time filed since 2011 have indicated [Intermountain] is seeking a buyer for the project." IV(1029). The State Engineer

⁸ IV(1023); V(1140, 1271); VI(1838); IX(2110, 2217); X(2321, 2420).

alerted Intermountain that "the inability to secure a buyer in future requests for extensions of time will not be considered good cause for extensions of time." IV(1029) (emphasis added).

In the June 4, 2015 Decision, the State Engineer did not analyze NRS 533.380(4)'s statutory requirements for an extension. IV(1026-1029). Instead, the State Engineer only recited the statute and stated, "In considering NRS 533.380(4), I find good cause for granting extensions on the Project permits. IV(1029) (emphasis in the original). However, the State Engineer warned Intermountain:

Notwithstanding that the extensions of time are being granted, please be advised that further requests for extensions on permits comprising the Project will be closely scrutinized to ensure the statutory criteria for granting extensions of time are adhered to. IV(1029) (emphasis added).

SPI petitioned for judicial review of the June 4, 2015 Decision. III(622-628). At oral argument, the district judge, Patrick Flanagan, specifically noted: "This is a close case. I think the writing is on the wall. The State Engineer has informed the applicant that further applications will be scrutinized closely." X(2489) (emphasis added). With this in mind, Judge Flanagan denied SPI's 2015 petition for judicial review. III(622-628).

///

///

///

F. In 2016, the State Engineer Granted Yet Another Extension to Intermountain Without Evidence That a Municipal Water Purveyor Would Use the Water in the Permitted Place of Use

In late 2015 and early 2016, Intermountain yet again filed applications for extensions of time. Fill(647-658). SPI filed an objection. I(47-55). The sum total of the "evidence" submitted by Intermountain in support of its extension requests was an affidavit of its principal, Robert Marshall; a list of expenditures that Marshall contended were associated with the Permits; and alleged invoices for those expenditures. III(647-658).

The Marshall affidavit contained the following statements:

Paragraph 5:

During 2015, Intermountain entered into an Option Agreement with two world-wide engineering and construction firms, experienced in water systems development. One firm is located in Chicago, Illinois and the other is located in Tel Aviv Israel. III(656).

Paragraph 6:

...Intermountain, during 2015 and early 2016 has had extensive negotiations with Utilities Inc., Nevada and Arizona, a PUCN certified utility company to distribute Intermountain's water to its present and future customers in the Cold Springs area of Washoe County. An agreement has been reached and is in the process of being signed. III(656).

⁹ Neither Intermountain nor the State Engineer served SPI with Intermountain's extensions requests, notwithstanding that SPI had submitted the State Engineer's form to request all correspondence regarding the Permits and had filed an objection to Intermountain receiving any further extensions, which the State Engineer directed SPI to serve on Intermountain. XI(2605-2646, 2684-2686).

Paragraph 7:

Intermountain has had numerous meetings with Developers [sic] whose plans involve construction of nearly 10,000 houses. The developments are in various stages of permitting, with all but one small one, in the City of Reno. Much work has been done by the developers to date. All of the developments are adjacent to or very near the existing developed areas. Intermountain expects to have Developer agreements in hand within three to four months. III(656).

Relying on these three paragraphs to incorrectly conclude that Intermountain purportedly "has secured agreements with engineering and construction firms, Utilities, Inc., and developers" III(664), on June 1, 2016, the State Engineer yet again granted extensions to Intermountain. III(660-666). But the State Engineer confirmed that those alleged agreements had not been submitted, stating that "<u>future extension requests</u> must be accompanied by copies of the agreements you indicated in Paragraphs 5, 6, and 7 of your Affidavit that Intermountain has reached with engineering and construction firms, Utilities, Inc., and developers." III(666) (emphasis in the original). The State Engineer did not explain how a statement of intent to use the water outside the permitted area or for unidentified developments could perfect the appropriations. III(660-666).

G. The District Court Denied SPI's 2016 Petition for Judicial Review

SPI timely filed a petition for judicial review of the June 1, 2016 Decision. I(1-28). After briefing and oral argument, Senior Judge William Maddox sitting by designation denied SPI's petition. X(2491-2561); XI(2562-2603, 2692, 2751-

2759). In reviewing SPI's petition, the district court used the wrong standard of review by incorrectly giving deference to the State Engineer's legal conclusions and interpretation of Nevada water law when *de novo* review was warranted. XI(2752). Based upon this unduly deferential standard, the district court accepted the State Engineer's arguments verbatim that a permit holder could perfect its applications by finding an "alternative use of its water where the originally intended project may not be realized." *Compare* XI(2757) *to* XI(2580-2581).

The district court's order did not address the Nevada jurisprudence cited by SPI that barred the extensions as a matter of law because Intermountain sought to sell the permitted water for delivery outside the place of use authorized in the Permits. *Compare* XI(2751-2759) *to* X(2504-2506). Instead, the district court incorrectly stated that "[t]he project which Intermountain's water rights have been intended to benefit is the same as the time it sought its applications for new appropriations of water" XI(2757), which was contradicted by the record that Intermountain's Permits sought to serve Lemmon Valley. Moreover, the district court did not address the requirements of the anti-speculation doctrine that an appropriator had to have a contractual or agency relationship with the municipal purveyor whose service territory encompassed the permitted place of use. XI(2756).

¹⁰ IV(914); V(1060, 1185); IX(2069, 2185, 2286); X(2386).

The district court deemed the Marshall affidavit substantial evidence to support the extensions. XI(2754). In so doing, the district court expressed that the substantial evidence standard "does not impose a duty upon the State Engineer to 'test the reliability or accuracy' of Intermountain's evidence." XI(2754). Nowhere did the district court discuss what a reasonable mind would do when faced with the unsupported and conflicting statements in the Marshall affidavit, as the substantial evidence inquiry requires. XI(2751-2759). Although the district court correctly recognized that "mere statements' without more is [sic] insufficient to demonstrate reasonable diligence," the district court did not identify any evidence in the record beyond the "mere statements" made in the Marshall affidavit. XI(2754-2756).

Because, Intermountain did not satisfy the legal standard for extensions of time, SPI now appeals the denial of its petition for judicial review. XI(2765-2769).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The June 1, 2016 Decision violated NRS 533.380, the law of beneficial use and the anti-speculation doctrine by granting extensions based upon Intermountain's mere statements of intent to sell the permitted water for use outside the area authorized in the Permits. The public policy of beneficial use that underpins Nevada law, and that is codified in Nevada's water statutes, prohibits Intermountain from exceeding the geographical limit of the Permits. The anti-

speculation doctrine requires Intermountain to have an agency relationship with a water purveyor for the place of use specified in the Permits, not some other location. And the criteria in NRS 533.380 mandate that the State Engineer review specific proof of development plans on parcels located within the authorized place of use. Intermountain did not satisfy any of the statutory requirements.

Water belongs to the public and cannot be held hostage by a water speculator such as Intermountain to the detriment of a would-be appropriator such as SPI, who is currently prepared to beneficially use the Dry Valley water resource. The June 1, 2016 Decision is not supported by any evidence, much less substantial evidence, that Intermountain has exercised reasonable diligence to perfect its applications. The issues of law presented by this case – namely, whether the antispeculation doctrine, the law of beneficial use and NRS 533.380 prohibited the extensions – warrant *de novo* review. The district court followed an erroneous standard of review that was unduly deferential to the State Engineer's legal analysis and countenanced the State Engineer's unauthorized presumption that an as-yet unfiled application to change the place of use to some other hydrographic basin would be granted.

The State Engineer is promoting water speculation, not preventing it. By granting the extensions, he allows Intermountain to hold hostage the entire groundwater resource of Dry Valley basin to the detriment of other would-be

appropriators. To rein in the State Engineer's violations of Nevada law, SPI asks the Court to reverse the district court's order and direct the district court to grant SPI's petition for judicial review, vacate the June 1, 2016 Decision and remand to the State Engineer with instructions to cancel the Permits.

ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review

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