IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

SIERRA PACIFIC INDUSTRIES, a
California Corporation ,

Appellant,

vs.

JASON KING, P.E., in his capacity as
Nevada State Engineer; THE DIVISION OF
WATER RESOURCES, DEPARTMENT
OF CONSERVATION, an agency of the
State of Nevada; and INTERMOUNTAIN
WATER SUPPLY, LTD., a Nevada Limited
Liability Company,

Respondents.

Supreme Court Case No.
73933

Electronically Filed
Apr 20 2018 04:01 p.m.
Elizabeth A. Brown
Clerk of Supreme Court

RESPONDENT INTERMOUNTAIN WATER SUPPLY, LTD.'s
ANSWERING BRIEF

Appeal from Order Denying Petition for Judicial Review
Second Judicial District Court Case No. CV16-01378
Honorable William A. Maddox

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

SPI goes on to state that Intermountain is not permitted to use the groundwater secured by its permits in any other area than Lemmon Valley. Opening Brief at 4, 11-12. As more fully explained below, this is a new position taken by SPI since the underlying judicial review proceedings. As also explained below, to the extent this Court is inclined to consider this newly-asserted position in the context of this appeal, Intermountain's project was approved for the "North

Valleys,” not just Lemmon Valley. JA, Vol. IV at 0899-0909, 1000 (Regional Water Planning Commissioner, 1997, referenced Intermountain’s project as part of the North Valleys Strategy – Intermountain’s project could be configured to take water to Cold Springs Valley); JA, Vol. I at 0056-0188; Vol. III at 0647-0657 (TMWA 2010-2030 Water Resource Plan); JA, Vol. I at 0241-Vol. II at 0308 (Western Regional Water Commission 2011-2030, Comprehensive Regional Water Management Plan); JA, Vol. II at 0474-Vol.III at 0621 (TMWA 2016-2035 Draft, Water Resource Plan). Thus, SPI’s assertion is contrary to the record and evidence in this case.

2. *SPI’s challenge to the area in which Intermountain will be putting its water to beneficial use is not an issue that is before this Court; even if this Court were to consider SPI’s assertion regarding where Intermountain intends to use its water, it is without merit.*

Based upon its misrepresented, incomplete, and false factual premise, SPI goes on to challenge the State Engineer’s June 1, 2016, decision granting Intermountain’s applications for extensions of time on permit numbers 64977, 64978, 66400, 72700, 73428, 73429, 73430, and 74327 because Intermountain no longer sought to use the water within the “permitted” geographical area. In so doing, SPI cites to Intermountain’s intent to put its water to beneficial use in Cold Springs rather than Lemmon Valley, which SPI asserts was the area in which Intermountain initially sought and obtained its groundwater permits. SPI generally contends that that State Engineer could not grant Intermountain extensions of time

where Intermountain no longer sought to use the water within the “permitted geographical area,” and that Intermountain’s extension requests are, essentially, improper change of place applications. As noted above, however, SPI did not raise this challenge in its petition for judicial review in reference to the State Engineer’s decision granting Intermountain’s 2016 application for an extension of time and, therefore, it is not appropriate for SPI to raise it on appeal here. Should this Court be inclined to consider SPI’s newly-asserted challenge as it concerns Intermountain’s requests for an extension of time since its 2016 application, it is entirely without merit.

- a. SPI’s challenge to the area in which Intermountain seeks to put its water to beneficial use in reference to its 2016 application was not at issue and not raised in the proceedings before the district court; this is a new issue SPI has raised with the State Engineer and the district court since the proceedings that are before this Court.

SPI devotes much of its opening brief to its challenge to the State Engineer’s decision granting Intermountain’s 2016 application for an extension of time based upon the area in which Intermountain intends to put its water to beneficial use. *See* Opening Brief at 12, 14, 19-26. It is a position it squarely addresses (*Id.*), and also sprinkles in among the other arguments it had previously raised before the district court, but without this new assertion. According to SPI, Intermountain’s permits do not authorize the water they secure to be used in Cold Springs because the water was supposed to have been used in Lemmon Valley. *Id.* Because SPI did not

make this challenge in the judicial review proceedings that are at issue in this appeal (JA, Vol. X at 2491-2517 (SPI's Opening Brief); Vol. XI at 2584-2603 (SPI's Reply Brief)), and because it is a new position that SPI has taken in reference to Intermountain's project since the proceedings at issue in this appeal¹⁰, SPI's efforts to challenge the State Engineer's June 1, 2016, decision granting Intermountain's request for an extension of time as it concerns the "permitted area" for the water is not appropriate for consideration by this Court. *See Old Aztec Mine, Inc. v. Brown*, 97 Nev. 49, 52, 623 P.2d 981, 983 (1981) (appellant who fails to raise arguments before the district court waives them on appeal).

- b. To the extent this Court is inclined to consider SPI's newly-asserted challenge, it is entirely without merit.

The general premise to SPI's newly-asserted challenge is that Intermountain's permits do not authorize use of the water they secure to be used anywhere outside of Lemmon Valley. SPI relies primarily on *Desert Irrigation*,

¹⁰ This challenge by SPI regarding the alleged changed place of use is a challenge that has been considered and rejected by the State Engineer, and is currently an issue that is being addressed on SPI's latest petition for judicial review, noted above. Should this Court wish to take judicial notice of what has taken (and is continuing to take) place before the State Engineer and the district court in reference to Intermountain's 2017 extension application pursuant to NRS 47.150 and *Occhiuto, supra* (permitting judicial notice to take cognizance of the record in another case), Intermountain directs this Court's attention to Ruling #6421 from the Office of the State Engineer, issued on January 9, 2018 (a ruling after a full evidentiary hearing on SPI's objection to Intermountain's 2017 extension application, and which fully addresses and dispels this new position taken by SPI) and Second Judicial District court Case No. CV18-00145 (SPI's third petition for judicial review) regarding Intermountain's groundwater permits.

supra, 113 Nev. 1049, 944 P.2d 835, which, according to SPI, states that a permit holder cannot obtain an extension of time based upon an intention to put the water to use on a parcel other than the described place of use in the permit. To the extent that this Court is inclined to consider this argument that relates to Intermountain's applications with the State Engineer that preceded the application at issue in this case, SPI's assertion is entirely without merit.

Indeed, SPI's reliance on *Desert Irrigation, supra* is misplaced. In *Desert Irrigation*, the permitted use was for quasi-municipal use on a specific development in Pahrump. In July 1972, the State Engineer granted an application to change the manner and place of use, with the PBU due in February 1977 (approximately 6 ½ years after the permit issued). Desert Irrigation filed extensions of time every year from 1977 to 1990. A portion of the water was put to beneficial use, but not all of it. The fifteenth extension of time for filing the PBU was filed in May 1991 and was granted by the State Engineer. Before the sixteenth extension request, Desert Irrigation sought to change its place of use to a different parcel six miles away. The State Engineer granted the extension of time, but denied the change application because Desert Irrigation had not proceeded with reasonable diligence to put the excess water to beneficial use. To that end, there was no evidence of good faith and due diligence to put the excess water to beneficial use on that different parcel. It was the absence of "any" evidence to

develop the parcel on which the State Engineer based his decision.

According to NRS 533.580(4)(b), in considering an extension of time, the State Engineer shall consider the number of parcels and commercial or residential units that are contained in or planned for the land being developed or the area being served. According to the *Desert Irrigation* Court, that is interpreted to mean “the area within which a permittee has a right to put water to beneficial use.” *Desert Irrigation, supra*, 113 Nev. at 1057. Prior to Desert Irrigation’s change application, there was no evidence that it was exercising good faith and due diligence to put its excess water to beneficial use on that different parcel. In distinguishing the cases that had been cited by Desert Irrigation, the Court noted that they were different “in one important respect.” Those cases involved developments in which *all* permitted water was committed to a specific use “from the outset.” *Id.* at 1058.

In this case, Intermountain’s use is for an entire area – townships, ranges, and many sections. There was a reference to Lemmon Valley in Intermountain’s permits, but the water management plans referenced the North Valleys. *See, i.e.*, JA, Vol. IV at 0899-0909, 1000 (Regional Water Planning Commissioner, 1997, referenced Intermountain’s project as part of the North Valleys Strategy – Intermountain’s project could be configured to take water to Cold Springs Valley); JA, Vol. 1 at 0056-0188; Vol. III at 0647-0657 (TMWA 2010-2030 Water

Resource Plan); JA, Vol. I at 0241-Vol. II at 0308 (Western Regional Water Commission 2011-2030, Comprehensive Regional Water Management Plan); JA, Vol. II at 0474-Vol. III at 0621 (TMWA 2016-2035 Draft, Water Resource Plan). Thus, contrary to *Desert Irrigation, supra*, in which the parcel of property at issue had never been mentioned, the area contemplated by Intermountain's developer agreement has been at issue in reference to Intermountain's permits by several governmental agencies.

Moreover, where Desert Irrigation had received fifteen extensions of time by the State Engineer, Intermountain has received far less. For four of its permits in the Lower Dry Valley (Permit Nos. 74327, 73428, 73429, 73430), for which their PBUs were due on 2/11/09, the 2016 applications for extensions of time were the ninth requests. *See, i.e.*, JA, Vol. XI at 2559-2561. The 2016 extension application for the other Lower Dry Valley Permit (Permit No. 66400), the PBU for which was due 2/11/09, was the tenth extension request. JA, Vol. XI at 2559. For two of the permits for the Upper Dry Valley (Permit Nos. 64977 and 64978), PBUs for which were due 2/11/07, the 2016 application for extension of time was the eleventh one (JA, Vol. XI at 2558), and the other Upper Dry Valley Permit (Permit No. 72700), the PBU for which was due 12/18/13, the 2016 application for an extension of time was only the fourth one (JA, Vol. XI at 2559). Thus, *Desert Irrigation, supra* is not applicable to this case.

SPI also challenges the district court's citation to *Pyramid Lake Paiute Tribe, supra*, which states that Nevada law allows a permittee to find an alternative use of its water where the originally intended project may not be realized. According to SPI, *Pyramid Lake Paiute Tribe, supra* is not applicable because the case did not involve an extension request and it does not involve water speculation. SPI, however, not only makes a distinction without a difference, it ignores that any alternate use by Intermountain of its water is within the area in which it was approved to be used – the North Valleys. *See, supra*. And, SPI ignores that, as more fully set forth below, the issue of water speculation has been fully and finally (and repeatedly) determined in this case. SPI also ignores that, as stated in *Pyramid Lake*, Intermountain has kept its water rights alive and in good standing. Not only has Intermountain spent millions of dollars on advancing its project (JA, Vol. XI at 2558-2561), it has timely submitted all required filings to keep its water rights in good standing (*Id.*).

Finally, SPI's assertion that Intermountain was required to apply to change the place to use its permitted groundwater and the authority on which it relies is not relevant to Intermountain's permits. As fully explained above, Intermountain's extension requests for the permits at issue in this case concern water and a project that, from the outset and as identified in the regional plans, contemplated the water's use in the North Valleys, of which Lemmon Valley, where it was initially

tagged for use, and Cold Springs, which is the current focus of its use, are located. Thus, the place of use for Intermountain's permits is, and has always been, for the North Valleys. At no time and under no circumstances were Intermountain's extension requests intended to change the place of use, or intended to be an application for that purpose. Thus, a change of place of use application is entirely irrelevant to Intermountain's permits.

3. The extension of time granted to Intermountain does not improperly allow Intermountain to speculate in water.

SPI challenges the State Engineer's decision to grant Intermountain's application for an extension of time because, according to SPI: (1) Intermountain failed to submit any evidence of a contractual or agency relationship with an entity that plans to put the water to use in the permitted area; and (2) the Marshall Affidavit does not satisfy the anti-speculation doctrine. Notwithstanding that SPI's "water speculation" challenge has been repeatedly addressed in SPI's various proceedings to challenge Intermountain's groundwater permits¹¹, as it is advanced

¹¹ This contention, and many of those that follow, raise issues that have been fully and finally determined in the State Engineer and judicial review proceedings that concerned Intermountain's 2015 extension request. JA, Vol. I at 0015-0021 (the State Engineer noting at JA 0016, n. 5, that SPI re-raises in these proceedings the same legal arguments and cites the same evidence as it did in its challenge to Intermountain's 2015 extension application); JA, Vol. III at 1871-1874 (the State Engineer's 2015 decision to grant Intermountain's extension request); JA, Vol. . JA, Vol. III at 0622-0628 (the district court's January 12, 2016, order denying SPI's petition for judicial review, which SPI did not appeal). Because those previous proceedings addressed the same issues between the same

in this case, it is entirely unsupported and contrary to the evidence.

- a. The State Engineer's determination about the applicability of the *Bacher* requirements to Intermountain's extension request and his consideration of Robert Marshall's affidavit as to the contractual and agency relationships it had established in furtherance of its project were sufficient to support its finding that Intermountain is not speculating in water.

SPI's challenge to the State Engineer's June 1, 2016, decision based upon Intermountain's failure to submit any evidence of a contractual or agency relationship with an entity that plans to put the permitted water to beneficial use is a continuing, unsupported and incorrect conclusory theory that Intermountain has no intention to put its water to beneficial use. SPI asserts that, according to *Bacher, supra*, each time the State Engineer considers an extension request, he

parties over the same subject matter, principles of issue preclusion and the law of the case doctrine prohibit SPI from re-asserting them in these proceedings. *See Five Star Capital Corp. v. Ruby*, 124 Nev. 1048, 194 P.3d 709 (2008) (issue preclusion prevents relitigation between the same parties of an issue that was decided on its merits in an earlier action that became final, even if the later action is based on different causes of action and distinct circumstances) and *Ferguson v. Las Vegas Metro. Police Dep't.*, 131 Nev. ____ (Adv. Op. 94), 364 P.3d 592, 597 (2015) (when an appellate court decides a principle or rule of law, that decision governs the same issues in subsequent proceedings in that case), *citing Rebel Oil Co. v. Atl. Richfield Co.*, 146 F.3d 1088, 1093 (9th Cir. 1998) (doctrine generally precludes a court **from reconsidering an issue that has already been decided by the same court**, or a higher court in the identical case); *see also Office of State Engineer, Div. of Water Resources v. Curtis Park Manor Water Users Ass'n*, 101 Nev. 30, 32, 692 P.2d 495, 497 (1985) (the law-of-the-case doctrine provides that where an appellate court states a principle of law in deciding a case, that rule because the law of the case, and is controlling both in the lower court and on subsequent appeals, so long as the facts are substantially the same), *citing Andolino v. State*, 99 Nev. 346, 350, 662 P.2d 631 (1983).

must ensure that the permit holder is exercising reasonable diligence to construct the diversion works and put the water to beneficial use, and that if there is no evidence of that reasonable diligence, the permit can be canceled for failing to comply with the anti-speculation doctrine. SPI's persistent but redundant challenges based on the anti-speculation doctrine under *Bacher, supra* in all of its various iterations, however, contradict the evidence that was before the State Engineer.

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